FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 4/25/2023 4:33 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/25/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 101931-9 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 38769-1-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHELLE E. LOUN,

Petitioner,

v.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS INDENTURE TRUSTEE ON BEHALF OF AND WITH RESPECT TO AJAX MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST 2018-B, MORTGAGE-BACKED NOTES, its successors-in-interest and/or assigns,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Michelle Loun (Loun).

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division Three, issued its published opinion on March 28, 2023. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's summary judgment order finding that U.S. Bank's judicial foreclosure action on Loun's accelerated promissory note was time-barred. *See* Appendix A (App. Op.). No motion for reconsideration was sought.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue of whether the Court of Appeals erred in reversing the trial court presents three issues of first impression in this state:

No. 1: Where the mortgage contract gives the holder the right to accelerate a promissory note, but not the right to revoke acceleration, can the holder nonetheless revoke acceleration after its foreclosure action is involuntarily dismissed when the homeowner does not tender any payments, or otherwise seek to rein-

state the note before the statute of limitations has run?

No. 2: Should the same requirement for accelerating a promissory note apply to revoking acceleration? In other words, should the revocation be "clearly and unequivocally" communicated to the homeowner, or can revocation occur by implication?

<u>No. 3</u>: Once a note has been accelerated, can sending legally required mortgage information to a homeowner, without more, revoke acceleration and reinstate the note?

These issues are of state-wide significance in residential mortgage foreclosures and directly impact the statute of limitations, including a homeowner's statutory right under RCW 7.28.300 to raise the statute of limitations as a defense to an action to foreclose on a deed of trust; they do not, as the Court of Appeals concluded, simply involve "a private dispute about whether a debt is owed by Ms. Loun to U.S. Bank." App. Op. at 9.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision.

As the Court of Appeals acknowledged: "Washington cas-

es hold that acceleration of an installment note must be made in a *clear and unequivocal* manner that effectively apprises the maker that the holder has exercised his right to accelerate the installment debt." App. Op. at 6-7 (italics added). The court found that U.S. Bank's "predecessor accelerated the loan when it initiated the first judicial foreclosure action in May of 2014." *Id.* at 11.

In deciding whether acceleration was later revoked, the court *sua sponte* looked to the standard of proof that would apply to a claim at trial. App. Op. at 8-9.¹ The court noted that "[t]he evidentiary standard to be applied to a particular claim is `based upon the nature of the interest at stake – the interest which is subject to erroneous deprivation if a mistake is made." *Id.* at 8 (cita-

¹ Neither party applied this approach, and Loun is unaware of any case that has done so. Moreover, neither acceleration nor revocation is a legally cognizable claim to which the evidentiary standard of proof should apply. Instead, whether acceleration or revocation has occurred depends upon the manner of notice that a noteholder must give to trigger either event. And both can occur in the absence of a lawsuit.

tion omitted). "Thus, the more important the decision, the higher the standard of proof." *Id.* After characterizing this foreclosure action as "a private dispute," the court concluded that "the preponderance of the evidence standard is appropriate for determining whether the acceleration has been revoked." *Id.* at 9.²

Applying this lowest evidentiary standard, the court concluded that reasonable minds could find that U.S. Bank's predecessor revoked acceleration "[s]oon after the first foreclosure action was dismissed in July 2016, when the loan servicer sent seven monthly statements to Ms. Loun", along with a response to Loun's request for information in October of 2016. *Id.* at 11. The court, however, omits mentioning that the statements and letter were required by federal law; that the noteholder at the time subsequently sought to vacate the dismissal of the first foreclosure

² Loun submits that, even under the Court's evidentiary standard analysis, the threat of losing one's home through foreclosure on a potentially time-barred debt is of substantial interest to all defaulting homeowners; thus, a higher standard of proof should apply.

action, and to substitute in as plaintiff *on the accelerated note* in that action (CP 798-799, 845-856); and that similar statements were sent to Loun while three foreclosure actions were pending on the accelerated note (CP 802-806).

B. The Countrywide Loan and Loun's Bankruptcy.

This case begins with a 2006 subprime Fannie Mae home loan, in the amount of \$399,900, issued by Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. (Countrywide) pursuant to an adjustable-rate promissory note (Note) and Deed of Trust. CP 17-32, 690. Neither the Note nor Deed of Trust allows the holder to unilaterally revoke acceleration after the holder exercises its contractual right to accelerate the debt. CP 17-27, 34-37.

In 2007 Loun was discharged from personal liability under the Note pursuant to a Chapter 7 bankruptcy discharge. CP 6, 100, 123-124. She then made post-discharge payments and ostensibly entered into a second loan modification agreement, with the first payment due January 1, 2012. CP 69, 681-682. (The second modification agreement replaced a prior one. CP 71.)

C. Loun's Default and the Legally Required Monthly Mortgage Statements Sent to Her Thereafter.

Loun has been in default since March 2012. CP 1019. 12 C.F.R. §1026.41 went into effect January 10, 2014. The regulation requires loan servicers to provide periodic mortgage statements to homeowners, setting forth specific information regarding their mortgage loans. *Id.* On October 22, 2013, Countrywide's successor, Bank of America, N.A. (BANA), acknowledged this change in federal law in a written notice to Loun:

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, established by Congress, will soon require mortgage servicers to provide customers with a monthly mortgage statement. To ensure this requirement is met, [BANA] will provide customers with a monthly mortgage statement.

CP 818. U.S. Bank's counsel admitted that the requirements of 12 C.F.R. §1026.41 are mandatory; and where the homeowner is in arrears, the monthly statements must disclose "the amount you have to pay to reinstate the loan." VRP 37-38 (italics added).

None of the required statements sent to Loun mention acceleration or indicate that it had been revoked; and most were sent while the three foreclosure actions on the accelerated note were pending. CP 547-548, 603-651, 661-667.

D. The First Foreclosure Action Was Involuntarily Dismissed.

On May 21, 2014, BANA filed a foreclosure complaint in which it accelerated the Note, based upon the March 2012 default, and sought to recover the entire principal balance owed in the amount of \$438,310.72. CP 834.

While BANA's foreclosure action was pending, its loan servicer, Seterus, sent monthly mortgage statements to Loun as required under 12 C.F.R. §1026.41. CP 1277-1286. Not one statement indicated that acceleration had been revoked. *Id.*

On July 25, 2016, BANA's complaint was involuntarily dismissed for want of prosecution. CP 798, 840. *Prior to the dismissal*, on June 29, 2016, the Deed of Trust was assigned to MTGLQ Investors LP (MTGLQ). CP 82-87.

On September 29, 2016, Loun's attorney sent an email to MTGLQ's loan servicer, Shellpoint, asking for information relat-

ing to Loun's mortgage. CP 1081. On October 11, 2016, Shell-point provided the requested information. CP 1082-1125. Shell-point's response acknowledged that it was legally required to provide the requested information. CP 1082. (12 U.S.C. §2605(e) imposes a duty on loan servicers to respond to written requests for mortgage information.)

Thereafter, on July 6, 2017, MTGLQ brought a motion to vacate the order dismissing the first foreclosure action *and sought* to replace BANA as the plaintiff in that action on the accelerated Note; the motion was denied on July 17, 2017. CP 9, 782, 842-843, 845-856. In support of its motion, MTGLQ admitted there was no excuse in failing to prosecute the action:

No action was taken [to prosecute the foreclosure complaint on the accelerated Note] because of an administrative hold by the client from June 2, 2105 [sic] until July 6, 2016. . . . Plaintiff has no excuse for not prosecuting this matter.

CP 782, 846.

E. The Second Foreclosure Action Was Involuntarily Dismissed While Being Prosecuted by U.S. Bank.

Having failed to reinstate and prosecute the first foreclosure action on the accelerated Note, on October 5, 2017, MTGLQ commenced a second foreclosure action on the same default of March 2012, and sought to recover the same accelerated principal balance of \$438,310.72. CP 799, 834, 873-874. MTGLQ's complaint did not allege that the 2014 acceleration had ever been revoked. CP 871-877.

On September 6, 2018, MTGLQ assigned the Deed of Trust to U.S. Bank. CP 799, 882-883; VRP 96-97. On October 8, 2018, the Mortgage Law Firm purported to substitute in as the attorney of record for MTGLQ in the second foreclosure action, which it continued to prosecute in the name of MTGLQ. CP 800, 885-886.

However, unbeknownst to Loun and the trial court, the Mortgage Law Firm was in fact representing U.S. Bank, not MTGLQ; and U.S. Bank's counsel admitted he had no authority to

act on behalf of MTGLQ. CP 545-548, 800-801. Accordingly, the trial court granted Loun's motion to strike MTGLQ's pleadings, thus dismissing the second judicial foreclosure action on May 28, 2019. CP at 898-899.

While the second foreclosure action was being prosecuted on the accelerated note, MTGLQ's loan servicer (Shellpoint) and U.S. Bank's loan servicer (Gregory Funding) continued to send Loun the monthly mortgage statements legally required by 12 C.F.R. §1026.41. CP 547-548, 604-677; 1145-1236. Not one statement indicated that acceleration had been revoked. *Id*.

Moreover, on July 23, 2018, while MTGLQ was prosecuting the second foreclosure action, Loun's counsel sent a letter to MTGLQ's counsel, attaching Shellpoint's monthly statement, dated *June 18, 2018*. CP 804. Regarding that statement, Loun's counsel asked: "[w]hat comprises the alleged payment amount of \$184,709.70 vis-à-vis the alleged principal balance of \$438,310.72[?]" In a footnote at page 2 of his letter, Loun's counsel pointed out that the mortgage statement made clear that

Shellpoint is "sending this statement to [Loun] for information and compliance purposes only." CP 804, 912-914.

MTGLQ's attorney responded:

- (1) The unpaid principal balance of the loan is \$438,310.72.
- (2) As of 7/1/18, \$184,709.70 was needed to reinstate the loan, i.e., bring the account current.

CP 804-805, 916 (italics added).

In other words, Shellpoint's statement simply informed Loun of the amount she needed to pay in order to exercise her unilateral right under the Deed of Trust to revoke acceleration and reinstate the Note. *Id.*; CP 25. Loun never sought to exercise this right. CP 796; VRP 18, 143.

F. U.S. Bank's Belated Third Foreclosure Action.

After the second foreclosure action on the accelerated note was involuntarily dismissed on May 28, 2019, U.S. Bank delayed until October 15, 2020, before commencing the third foreclosure action (CP 1), which was *after* Loun had filed her complaint to quiet title on October 12, 2020 (CP 98). U.S. Bank's foreclosure

complaint sought to recover the same accelerated balance (\$438,310.72) based upon the same March 2012 default as the prior two foreclosure actions. Compare CP 10 with CP 834 and 873-874. And U.S. Bank's loan servicer, Gregory Funding, continued to send Loun the legally required monthly mortgage statements after U.S. Bank filed its action on the accelerated note. CP 801-802, 805-806, 920, 1419, 1591-1618.

V. ARGUMENT

A. This Petition Involves Unresolved Issues of Substantial Public Interest That Should be Decided by This Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

No prior Washington case has decided whether a noteholder can unilaterally revoke acceleration of a promissory note in the absence of a contractual right to do so; nor has the issue of what is required to revoke acceleration been decided in this state; yet these are issues of state-wide significance to any homeowner facing a belated foreclosure action on an accelerated note.

The Court of Appeals' decision grants a noteholder the unconditional right to unilaterally revoke acceleration by mere implication, including by sending the homeowner legally required mortgage information under 12 C.F.R. §1026.41 and 12 U.S.C. §2605(e). The decision thus allows a noteholder to indefinitely toll the six-year statute of limitations, thereby creating a conflict between federal law and the public policy of this state as codified in RCW 4.16.040 and RCW 7.28.300.

"This court has found Washington statutes and case law to be the primary sources of Washington public policy." *Sedlacek v. Hillis*, 145 Wn.2d 379, 388, 36 P.3d 1014 (2001). In enacting RCW 7.28.300, our state legislature declared a clear public policy of protecting homeowners against stale mortgages or deeds of trust that are time-barred, as follows:

The record owner of real estate may maintain an action to quiet title against the lien of a mortgage or deed of trust on the real estate where an action to foreclose such mortgage or deed of trust would be barred by the statute of limitations, and, upon proof sufficient to satisfy the court, may have judgment quieting title against such a lien.

The strong public policy barring stale claims is also reflected in RCW 4.16.040, which contains the six-year statute of limita-

tions applicable here. In *Sidis v. Brodie/Dohrmann, Inc.*, 117 Wn.2d 325, 330, 815 P.2d 791(1991), this Court explained that "[t]he purpose of the statute of limitations is to compel acts to be commenced within what the legislature deemed to be a reasonable time, and not postponed indefinitely." It is thus against public policy to allow a deed of trust to be enforced without limits. *Walcker v. Benson & McLaughlin, P.S.*, 79 Wn.App. 739, 745-46, 904 P.2d 1176 (1995). "Our policy is one of repose; the goals are to eliminate the fears and burdens of threatened litigation and to protect the defendant against stale claims." *Id.* at 746 (citations omitted).

The Court of Appeals' decision allows compliance with federal law to trump RCW 7.28.300 and RCW 4.16.040. The only facts cited by the court in finding that reasonable minds could conclude that acceleration had been revoked are seven monthly mortgage statements and a 2016 letter sent to Loun after the first judicial foreclosure action was dismissed. But these documents, none of which even mention acceleration or indicate that the Note

was ever reinstated, were legally required. See 12 C.F.R. §1026.41; 12 U.S.C. §2605(e).

As a matter of law, this Court should hold that compliance with the mandates of 12 C.F.R. §1026.41 and 12 U.S.C. §2605(e) cannot, without more, constitute evidence of revocation of an accelerated promissory note. To hold otherwise would effectively toll the statute of limitations indefinitely and allow for revocation by implication, which would be unsound public policy that promotes uncertainty and lack of uniformity in residential real estate mortgage foreclosures.

Moreover, there is no dispute over the *content* of the documents relied on by the Court of Appeals in reversing the trial court; instead, it is only their legal effect that is in dispute, which is an issue of law properly decided by the trial court in favor of Loun. "Where the underlying facts are not in dispute, whether a case was filed within the statute of limitations period is a question of law to be determined by a judge." *Kiona Park Estates v. Dehls*, 18 Wn.App.2d 328, 336, 491 P.3d 247 (2021).

B. The Deed of Trust Does Not Give the Holder the Right to Unilaterally Revoke Acceleration.

A promissory note and deed of trust are written contracts; therefore, the general rules of contract interpretation and construction apply. See, e.g., Terhune v. N. Cascade Tr. Servs., Inc., 9 Wn.App.2d 708, 718, 446 P.3d 683 (2019), review denied, 195 Wn.2d 1004 (2020). Neither the Note (CP 34-37) nor Deed of Trust (CP 17-32) allows U.S. Bank to unilaterally revoke acceleration. Because no Washington case has addressed the issue of whether a noteholder can unilaterally revoke acceleration in the absence of a contractual right to do so, this Court is respectively asked to adopt the sound reasoning of the Oklahoma Court of Civil Appeals in PNC Bank, N.A. v. Robert C. Keck Revocable Living Trust, 479 P.2d 238 (Okla. Civ. App. 2020), which closely aligns with Washington law and public policy.

The *PNC Bank* Court held: "Deacceleration, like acceleration, must be authorized by the debt or security instrument." *Id.* at 250. As the rationale for its holding, the court stated: "In all cas-

es involving acceleration, there was existing contractual authority for acceleration....[A]cceleration is a fundamental change in the debtor-creditor contractual relationship, so a contract provision is absolutely required." *Id.* at 246. "Deacceleration is likewise a fundamental change in the debtor-creditor contractual relationship.... Therefore, it is mandatory that there must be a deacceleration clause in the instrument evidencing the debt or the instrument evidencing the security for the debt." *Id.* at 247.

The Court of Appeals summarily rejected *PNC Bank's* above holding because it "did not cite any authority for this holding and its holding has not been cited with approval by any other jurisdiction." App. Op. at 10. The *PNC Bank* Court, however, reached its holding after a thorough analysis of the issue; and the case is a recent 2020 decision, which likely explains why it has not been cited by courts in other jurisdictions. Moreover, just because *PNC Bank* has not been cited elsewhere does not mean that it should not be followed.

In rejecting the holding in *PNC Bank*, the Court of Appeals

cited *Freedom Mortgage Corporation v. Engel*, 37 N.Y.3d 1, 28-29, 169 N.E.3d 912, 146 N.Y.S.3d 542 (2021) for the proposition that "[o]ther courts have reached a different conclusion." App. Op. at 10. *Engel*, however, made clear that, "We have not decided whether the notes and mortgages at issue here permit a lender to revoke acceleration." 37 N.Y.3d at 36 (concurring opinion).

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals proceeded to "adopt the rule in *Engel*", as follows:

New York's highest court held that absent a specific provision in the contract governing revocation of acceleration, `revocation can be accomplished by an "affirmative act" of the noteholder within six years of the election to accelerate.' Allowing lenders to revoke acceleration – even in the absence of an express provision in the contract – benefits both lenders and borrowers. It benefits lenders by giving them more flexible remedies. It benefits borrowers by allowing them to cure a default without paying the entire balance of the loan. For this reason, we adopt the rule in *Engel*.

App. Op. at 10. As will further be explained below, the Court of Appeals misapprehended "the rule in *Engel*." Unlike the Court of Appeals' decision, *Engel* does not allow for revocation by impli-

cation; instead, the *Engel* Court adopted a "clear rule" that requires "an affirmative act" which communicates to the homeowner that revocation has occurred, thus reinstating the note. *Engel*, 37 N.Y.3d at 19, 28-31.

C. The Same Requirement to Accelerate a Note Should Apply to Revoke Acceleration.

Under Washington law, for a noteholder to effectively exercise its contractual option to accelerate a promissory note, "this option must be exercised by clear and unequivocal notice to the borrowers." *4518 S. 256th*, *LLC v. Karen L. Gibbon, P.S.*, 195 Wn.App. 423, 439, 282 P.3d 1 (2016). To promote clarity and uniformity in the law of residential mortgage foreclosures, and to ensure that homeowners are fully apprised of the actual status of their loans, the same standard should logically apply to revoke acceleration. *See, e.g.,* 11 Am. Jur.2d, *Bills and Notes*, §167 (2016) ("Revocation of the debt's acceleration requires an affirmative act by the creditor that communicates to the debtor that the creditor has revoked the debt's acceleration.").

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