FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/25/2023 4:47 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101931-9 Court of Appeals No. 38769-1-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHELLE E. LOUN, Petitioner

v.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS INDENTURE TRUSTEE ON BEHALF OF AND WITH RESPECT TO AJAX MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST 2018-B, MORTGAGE-BACKED NOTES, its successors-in-interest and/or assigns, Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

HAWLEY TROXELL ENNIS & HAWLEY LLP Daniel J. Gibbons, WSBA No. 33036
Matthew W. Daley, WSBA No. 36711
Christopher G. Varallo, WSBA No. 29410
dgibbons@hawleytroxell.com
mdaley@hawleytroxell.com
cvarallo@hawleytroxell.com

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

IV. ARGUMENT.

RAP 13.4(b) provides:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court **only**: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

(emphasis added). The Court of Appeals properly found that genuine issues of material fact precluded summary judgment.

Ms. Loun does not argue that the Published Decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, or that the Published Decision conflicts a published decision of the Court of Appeals and does not argue that the Published Decision involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States. Rather, the sole basis

asserted for discretionary review is reversing her motion for summary judgment due to the existence of genuine issues of material fact raises an issue of "state-wide significance in residential mortgage foreclosures...." Petition p. 2.

A. Loun Has Failed to Demonstrate an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

As stated above, Loun's sole ground for requesting discretionary review is RAP 13.4(b)(4). Petition, p. 12. However, she has not demonstrated any issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. She has not identified any similar appeal, has not identified any similar pending Superior Court case, and has not identified any other foreclosure in the State of Washington involving revocation of acceleration. This stands in stark contrast to other cases where this Court has granted discretionary review. *See e.g. State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577 (2005) ("The Court of Appeals holding, while affecting parties to this proceeding, also has the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce

County after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue."); *In re Personal Restraint of Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032 (2016) ("Here, the Court of Appeals noted that there are numerous now-pending personal restraint petitions challenging the imposition of LFOs I am aware that petitions raising some of these issues are pending in other divisions of the Court of Appeals. In these circumstances, review by this court is warranted on the basis the motion raises an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).") (citations omitted).

While authority within Washington regarding revocation of acceleration is limited, the issues raised in this appeal are discrete and unique. As stated by the Court of Appeals this is a private dispute. Published Decision, p. 9. Loun has failed to demonstrate a substantial public interest. The Petition should be denied.

B. Loun's Arguments Were Rejected by the Court of Appeals, and Do Not Demonstrate a Basis for Discretionary Review.

Being unable to identify any issue of substantial public

interest, Loun instead reiterates the arguments rejected by the Court of Appeals. This includes asking that evidence be ignored, a contrived argument of conflict between federal law and Washington law, incorrectly arguing that the statute of limitation could be indefinitely tolled, and even attacking the concurring opinion. Petition, pp. 12-29.

Loun devotes nearly six pages to arguing that the monthly statements, notices and correspondence sent to her should be ignored. Petition, pp. 13-15, 23-25. This argument contradicts the established rules governing summary judgment. "Thus, where a motion for summary judgment is made, it is the duty of the trial court to consider all evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom in a light most favorable to the nonmovant." Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 91 Wn.2d 345, 349 (1979) (citing Maki v. Aluminum Bldg. Prods., 73 Wn.2d 23(1968)) (emphasis added). Notably, Loun cites no authority for the proposition that because loan servicers are required to provide periodic statements and information to

borrowers under federal regulations, that such evidence may be disregarded at summary judgment. Nor could she given the long-established rule that **all** evidence must be considered at summary judgment, and that **all** reasonable inferences from the evidence must be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. Furthermore, the weight to be assigned to evidence and credibility of witnesses is a matter determined by the trier of fact. *See e.g., State v. Stewart*, 141 Wn. App. 791, 795 (2007). Nothing in the Published Decision precludes Loun, or U.S. Bank, from arguing weight and credibility at trial.

As the Court of Appeals stated, "When ruling on a motion for summary judgment, a court views the facts submitted and the reasonable inferences that may be drawn from those facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.* A court may grant a motion for summary judgment if reasonable minds could reach only one conclusion from the facts submitted." Published Decision, p. 5. The Published Decision certainly comports with binding precedent regarding the standard for summary judgment.

Oddly, despite her many protests regarding the Published Decision, Loun does not dispute that whether revocation occurred is a question of fact. Again, Loun received **over one hundred pages** of statements, notices and correspondence showing acceleration had been affirmatively revoked. CP 01082-01124, 01127-01249, 01251-69. Ms. Loun's argument that the black letter law governing summary judgment be set aside and evidence ignored does not raise any issue necessitating review by the Supreme Court. Therefore, the Petition should be denied.

C. Loun's Argument that the Published Decision Allows a Noteholder to Indefinitely Toll the Statute of Limitations is Incorrect.

Loun ignores the plain language of the Published Decision and attempts to manufacture a holding that does not exist in hopes of obtaining discretionary review. Petition, p. 13. Loun's argument that "The decision allows a noteholder to indefinitely toll the statute of limitations...." is simply wrong and contradicts the Published Decision. As stated in the Published Decision, "An

action on a written contract is subject to the six-year statute of limitations. RCW 4.16.040(1). When a contract, such as a promissory note, calls for installment payments, 'the statute of limitations runs against each installment from the time it becomes due; that is, from the time when an action might be brought to recover it.' *Herzog v. Herzog*, 23 Wn.2d 382, 388, 161 P.2d 142 (1945)." Published Decision, p. 6.

Nothing in the Published Decision changes the rule that the statute of limitations would bar action on a promissory note that is more than six years past its maturity date (absent tolling). Nor does the Published Decision support any notion that an installment more than six years old can continue to be collected (again, absent tolling). Here, as the Court of Appeals found, there are genuine issues of material fact regarding whether acceleration was revoked before six years had elapsed since the 2014 Lawsuit was filed. The Petition should be denied.

D. There is No Conflict Between Federal Law and Washington Law.

Next, Loun contrives an alleged conflict between the sixyear statute of limitation and Washington's quiet title statute, and federal law and regulations regulating loan servicers. Petition, p. 13-15. Nothing in 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e) (regarding the home loan servicer's duty to respond to borrower inquiries) or 12 C.F.R. § 1026.41 (regarding periodic statements for residential loans) conflicts with RCW 4.16.040 or (Washington's six-year statute) or RCW 7.28.300 (the Washington quiet title statute). Ms. Loun's disagreement that evidence precluded summary judgment does not necessitate discretionary review. Rather, this argument is another belabored attempt to advocate that evidence should be ignored. As stated above, the sole ground advanced by Loun for discretionary review is RAP 13.4(b)(4), which requires Loun to show an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. She has cited no authority for the proposition that any supposed conflict of law,

either real or imagined, provides a basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Again, the Petition should be denied.

E. The Court of Appeals Correctly Rejected *PNC Bank*, *N.A. v. Robert C. Keck Revocable Living Trust.*

Ms. Loun's next grievance is that the Court of Appeals declined to adopt PNC Bank, N.A. v. Robert C. Keck Revocable Living Trust, 2020 OK Civ. App. 60, 479 P.3d 238 (2020), which is the sole authority Loun has located supporting her argument that revocation of acceleration may **only** occur if such a right is expressly stated in a promissory note or deed of trust. As the Court of Appeals stated, PNC Bank cited no legal authority for its holding, and its holding has not been cited with approval in any other jurisdiction. Published Decision, p. 10. Further, the reasoning of PNC Bank is questionable at best. Lacking authority, the Oklahoma Court of Civil Appeals stated "Deacceleration is likewise a fundamental change in the debtorcreditor relationship.... Therefore, it is mandatory that there must be a deacceleration clause in the instrument evidencing the debt P.2d at 247. However, the *PNC Bank* court does not explain why "deacceleration" which has the effect of simply **returning the loan to its prior status and maturity**, is such a momentous action as to require an express contract provision.

Rather, than adopting PNC Bank's unsupported and questionable reasoning, the Court of Appeals adopted the holding of every other authority cited for the proposition that deacceleration, waiver, abandonment or other revocation of acceleration that does not require an express contractual provision. Doing so was in accord with Washington law. Panorama Residential Protective Ass'n v. Panorama Corp. of Wash., 97 Wn.2d 23, 28 (1982) (a waiver of contractual remedies acceleration may be unilateral such as and without consideration); Equitable Life Leasing Corp. v. Cedarbrook, Inc., 52 Wn. App. 497, 498-99, 502 (1988) (lender waived acceleration by sending monthly statements and accepting partial payment). Likewise, other jurisdictions hold that the lender need

only engage in an affirmative act to revoke acceleration, regardless of whether revocation is expressly set forth in a contract. Andra R. Miller Designs LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 244 Ariz. 265, 271, 418 P.3d 1038, 1044 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2018); Ayala v. Carrington Mortgage Servs. LLC, CV-16-02156-PHX-ROS, 2017 WL 6884299, *3 (D. Ariz. 2017); Waiver of Right to Accelerate, Am. Jur. 2D, Bills and Notes, § 167 (Sept. 2016); Bartram v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 211 So. 3d 1009 (Fla. 2016); NMNT Realty Corp. v. Knoxville 2012 Trust, 151 A.D.3d 1068, 1069-70, 58 N.Y.S.3d 118, 120 (N.Y. App. Div. 2017); Freedom Mortgage Corp. v. Engel, 37 N.Y.3d 1, 32, 169 N.E.3d 912, 92, 146 N.Y.S.3d 542, 556 (N.Y. 2021); Khan v. GBAK Props, Inc., 371 S.W.3d 347, 353 (Tex. App. 2012); Dunn v. Gen. Equities of Iowa, Ltd., 319 N.W.2d 515, 517 (Iowa 1982); Holland v. Paddock, 142 Cal. App. 2d 534, 298 P.2d 587 (Cal. Ct. App. 1956).

The Court of Appeals correctly adopted the standard set forth in *Engel* and numerous other cases that revocation of

acceleration need not be expressly set forth in the promissory or deed of trust. Further, the Court of Appeals correctly held that a genuine issue of material fact precluded summary judgment because Loun was sent numerous statements, notices and other correspondence showing acceleration was affirmatively revoked. Published Decision, pp. 8-11. Loun's displeasure that the Court of Appeals did not adopt *PNC Bank* is not grounds for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Petition should be denied.

F. Adoption of A Preponderance of the Evidence Standard Provides No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Necessitating Review by the Supreme Court.

Again, Loun's disappointment that the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded because evidence showed acceleration was affirmatively revoked is not a basis for discretionary review. Rather than accepting that summary judgment should have been denied, as it was in February of 2021, Loun instead appears to advocate for a heightened standard of proof in this contract dispute between two private parties. Petition, pp. 3-5, 19-23. In

doing so, Loun simply ignores the Court of Appeals reasoning in adopting the preponderance of the evidence standard, and of course fails to identify any reason why the preponderance of the evidence standard should result in the Supreme Court accepting review. Consistent with the standard of proof for nearly all matters of civil law, the Court of Appeals held that revocation of acceleration need be shown by a preponderance of the evidence. Published Decision, p. 8. Notably, Loun does not identify any conflict with a Supreme Court decision or published decision of the Court of Appeals or other basis for discretionary review.

Instead, Loun conveniently asks this Court to impose a clear, cogent and convincing standard of proof, as is required for matters such as fraud and termination of parental rights. *Lindgren v. Lindgren*, 58 Wn. App. 588, 596 (1990) (fraud must be established by clear and convincing evidence); *In re Welfare of H.S.*, 94 Wn. App. 511, 518 (1999) (termination of parental rights requires clear, cogent and convincing evidence). Loun advances no reason for such a high standard of proof for a

private, civil dispute, other than her serving her own interests.

Moreover, Loun conflates the standard of proof with the legal test for acceleration of a debt. While it is true that the Washington case law provides acceleration must occur in a clear and unequivocal manner, nothing in any Washington decision requires the standard of proof in a case regarding acceleration be clear, cogent and convincing evidence. Loun has not cited any case that holds the **standard of proof** for acceleration is anything other than preponderance of the evidence. There is no reason to impose such a rule. Nor would doing so comport with Washington law. As the Court of Appeals held, "preponderance of the evidence applies to civil actions, because society has a minimal interest in the outcome of private disputes." Published Decision, p. 8. Imposing a rule equating a private, civil contract dispute to fraud or termination of parental rights is not supported by any authority. The Court of Appeals determination to apply a preponderance of the evidence standard was correct, wellsupported by the law, and does not raise any basis for discretionary review. Again, the Petition should be denied.

G. Loun's Criticism of the Concurring Opinion Is Not a Basis for Discretionary Review.

Chief Judge Siddoway's concurring opinion is not signed by other members of the appellate panel and has no precedential value. *Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma*, 193 Wn.2d 537, n. 8 (2019) ("Justice Chambers's concurring opinion is precedential because it received five votes from justices who also signed the majority opinion."). Loun's argument that the concurring opinion would "reverse established Washington law" is incorrect. Again, Ms. Loun's disagreement with the Published Decision, no matter how vehement, is not a basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b).

H. Attorney's Fees.

U.S. Bank is entitled to an award of its reasonable and necessary attorney fees and costs. RAP 18.1 allows for the recovery of attorney fees and costs where applicable law provides for such an award. Here, the foreclosure / quiet title

action giving rise to this appeal arises out of the Deed of Trust and Note. Paragraph 26 of the Deed of Trust and Paragraph 7(E) of the Note provide that U.S. Bank may recover its attorney fees and costs incurred in any proceeding to construe or enforce the documents. CP 01030, 01043.

V. CONCLUSION.

For the reasons stated above, Ms. Loun has failed to establish grounds for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). In tacit acknowledgement that she lacks grounds for discretionary review, the vast majority of the Petition simply reiterates the arguments on the merits the Court of Appeals rejected. Accordingly, the Petition should be denied.